I. INTRODUCTION

This case arises from a construction project known as the
Town Center Infrastructure Improvements Phase 2A project (the
“Project”). The Project, a public road and underground utility
project, was built by Petitioner C.A. Carey Corporation
(“Carey”) as prime contractor for Respondent the City of
Snoqualmie (the “City”).

The City, solely responsible for the Project’s design, put
the Project out to bid knowing that the Project could not be built
as designed. This was concealed from the Project’s bidders,
including Carey. Also concealed from the bidders was the fact
that the City lacked sufficient funds to pay for the Project. Not
knowing any of this material, concealed information, Carey bid,
and ultimately was awarded, the Project.

As the City expected, Carey could not build the Project
pursuant to the defective plans and specifications provided to the
bidders. However, rather than reveal its superior information

regarding the flawed design to Carey, the City left Carey to



discover every defective element of the design on its own as it
attempted to construct the Project. This caused staggering time
and cost impacts. This too was expected by the City.

Had the City had sufficient funding to build the Project,
this might have been the end of the story. But it did not. So it
weaponized the non-negotiable contract it had improperly
induced Carey to sign. Thus, as Carey submitted change order
proposals (“COPs”) for additional compensation and contract
time caused by the City’s defective design and failure to resolve
the known conflicts, the City rarely granted Carey’s COPs in full.
Instead, the City arbitrarily deducted more than 3230,000 from
Carey’s COPs, repackaging the COPs into discounted, unilateral
change orders, which forced Carey to pursue administrative
dispute resolution through the contract’s protest and claim
process. Carey submitted 19 separate protests for these change
order disputes and other contract administration issues. Each of

the 19 protests complied with the contract’s notice, protest, and



claims requirements. The City denied all of Carey’s protests and
claims.

After unsuccessfully attempting to administratively
resolve its disputes with the City through the contract’s protest
and claim process, Carey initiated this lawsuit in May 2017.
Carey’s claims include the 19 separate sub-issues it protested
throughout the Project.

In September 2019—before any depositions were taken—
the City moved for summary judgment, and then, Carey also
moved for summary judgment. The gravamen of the motions was
whether Carey complied with the contract’s notice, protest, and
claim provisions for each of the 19 issues. Ultimately, the trial
court determined that none of Carey’s 19 claims met the
minimum substantive requirements, granted summary judgment
in the City’s favor, and dismissed Carey’s original complaint in
its entirety without leave to amend.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court,

holding that “[b]ecause Carey does not demonstrate any genuine



issue of material fact as to whether it complied with the
mandatory procedures in order to preserve its claims under the
contract, the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment
in favor of the City.” C.4. Carey Corp. v. City of Snoqualmie,
No. 84602-7-1, 2024 WL 692488, at *10 (Wash. Ct. App.
Feb. 20, 2024). As explained below, that decision conflicts with
this Court’s established precedent, and this Court should reverse
and remand this matter to the trial court for further proceedings,

including depositions.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is C.A. Carey Corporation.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Carey seeks review of C.A. Carey Corporation v. City of
Snoqualmie, No. 84602-7-1 (filed February 20, 2024).

See Appendix A.
IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals’ decision conflict with
established Washington law regarding the standard for
summary judgment when the Court of Appeals affirmed
summary judgment in the City’s favor despite Carey’s
presentation at trial and on appeal of competent evidence

_4 -



raising a material questions of fact regarding Carey’s
compliance with the standard specifications in the parties’
contract and/or whether Carey’s strict compliance with the
standard specifications was excused?

. Did the Court of Appeals’ decision conflict with this
Court’s precedent—namely, Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v.
County of Spokane, 150 Wn.2d 375, 78 P.3d 161 (2003),
and its progeny—when the Court of Appeals affirmed the
trial court’s decision finding that there is no issue of
material fact as to Carey’s alleged lack of compliance with
the notice, protest, and claims provisions of standard
specifications incorporated into the contract? Specifically,
did the Court of Appeals err when it held that, on summary
judgment, evidence of a contractor’s strict compliance
with timeliness provisions and, at a minimum, substantial
compliance with substantive contractual notice, protest,
and claim provisions is not sufficient for the contractor’s
claims to survive summary judgment and proceed to trial?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual Background.

Carey is a general contractor based in Issaquah,

Washington with almost five decades of experience performing

publicly and privately owned civil construction projects. CP 526.

Carey regularly, and successfully, performs projects of similar

size, scope, and complexity to the Project. CP 526.

In early 2014, the City advertised construction bids for the

public works contract of the “Town Center Infrastructure
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Improvements Phase 2A Project” (the Project). CP 545-47. The
Project involved improvements to downtown Snoqualmie,
Washington, including installation of a new water main, storm
drainage system, and undergrounding of power, cable, and phone
lines. CP 547.

Following the public bidding process, the contract was
awarded to Carey on April 28, 2014, as the lowest responsive,
responsible bidder. CP 542-43. On May 12, the City and Carey
entered into a public works agreement (the “Contract”) for the
Project. Id. Under the Contract, Carey was obligated to “achieve
substantial completion of all [w]ork required by the [c]ontract
[d]ocuments within 180 working days” for the principal sum of
$4,282,653.42. CP 542. The contract incorporated, among other
things, the 2012 standard specifications entitled “Standard
Specifications for Road, Bridge, and Municipal Construction,”
issued by the Washington State Department of Transportation
(WSDOT) and the American Public Works Association (APWA)

(the “Standard Specifications”). CP 548. The Standard



Specifications are uniform requirements for public works
agreements that provided the general terms of the contract
between the City as the contracting agency and the contractor,
Carey. CP 548. Among the requirements are notice and claim
procedures that govern the specific process that must be followed
when a contractor seeks additional time or payment on a project.
See CP 630-31; CP 636; CP 639-641.

Almost two months before advertising the Project for
bids—the City and its consultants identified substantial defects
with the Project design. CP 470-82. Many of these defects
concerned conflicts between the planned locations of new
utilities and locations of existing underground utilities, such as
underground gas lines owned by a franchisee. CP 470-82. For
example, in a January 4, 2014, email, a project manager for the
City’s design engineer, KPG, explained to the City:

Attached is a sketch of the potential gas conflicts.

The orange highlights are horizontal conflicts, so

the gas line would need to be relocated at those
locations for sure.



The red circles are vertical conflicts for you to
verify clearances. We did incorporate the pothole
info we received from you way back, where there is
a dashed line with ellipse at the end (in the profile

views) . .
drainage and water

minimum cover). . . .

services

. The potential conflicts are with storm
(typically 36~

CP 470. The following are some of the plan and profiles showing

the conflicts:
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On July 2, 2014, a project engineer for the City told others

that utility conflict “was discovered during design”:

We have a utility conflict . . . where the high
pressure gas line . . . is on top of the new stormwater
pipe.

.. . This conflict was discovered during design.

KPG sent the conflict info to PSE back in January

2014. For some reason PSE thought KPG was going

to redesign the storm to avoid the conflict. This did

not happen.

... Relocating the storm will cause a change order.

CP 480.

There were two ways to fix these conflicts: (1) redesign
the new utilities to avoid the existing utilities, or (2) relocate the
existing utilities out of the designed path of the new utilities.
CP 470. The City did not resolve the conflicts. See CP 480.
Instead, by letter dated June 6, 2014, the City issued a Notice to
Proceed that directed Carey to start work. CP 551. The Notice to
Proceed advised Carey that its 180 days of contract time to

complete the Project would begin running the next day, June 7,

2014. CP 551. The Notice to Proceed was issued without any

“11 -



advance notice and left Carey without any time to coordinate
with its subcontractors or prepare submittals it needed the City
to approve before it could start physically working on site.
CP 569-572. The City’s improper issuance of the Notice to
Proceed caused an initial 10-day delay to Carey’s schedule. /d.

Significantly, in January 2015, months after the City
directed Carey to proceed with its work on the Project, the City
Engineer expressed his frustration to the City’s design consultant
with respect to the ongoing substantial redesign of a boardwalk.
CP 487. But the City’s newfound frustration is a mystery, given
that the City had received information about the defects “way
back.” CP 470. The City’s public statements about the delay in
the contracting completion date are also directly contrary to the
documents produced in this case. For example, on March 3,
2015, the City’s project engineer represented to the Snoqualmie
City Council that the City was unaware of the conflicts:

“In an aged infrastructure with a downtown historic

area[,] ... ‘you always run into aged utilities that
you we’re aware of. . . . ‘(The city) did not

-12 -



document them or put them on plans and maps, so
we kind of discovery (things like) that as we go.”!

Even more incredible than pretending to be surprised by
delays caused by known defects is criticizing an innocent party
for self-inflicted delays. Specifically, in the same meeting with
the Snoqualmie City Council, the City’s project engineer refused
to take accountability for the delays and blamed Carey for taking
“weather days”:

“We’ve always said it’ll be (finished) around (the)

end of May, give or take,” Mahmoud began. “I’'m

not sure [ would call it an extension. The contractor

gets weather days, so if it’s pouring rain and there’s

a lot of activities that’s weather sensitive, then the
contractor gets a day off....”

I Snoqualmie Valley Records, News, Road work continues:
Snoqualmie extends infrastructure ? project funding, deadline,
Mar. 3, 2015 6:22 pm,
https://www.valleyrecord.com/news/road-work-continues-
snoqualmie-extends-infrastructure-project-funding-deadline/.
Carey respectfully requests that this Court take judicial notice of
this article and the City’s statements. See Cameron v. Murray,
151 Wash. App. 646, 658-59, 214 P.3d 150 (2009); ER 201(b).

2 1d.
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As explained in the Brief of Appellant (at 15), multiple,
back-to-back issues arose. Carey provided written notice for 19
issues, including 9 for change order protests arising from design
defects and 10 for protests of other issues such as the City’s
refusal to renegotiate unit prices, the City’s unilateral Final
Contract Voucher Certification and others. Carey also sent the
City timely supplemental protest statements for each of its 19
issues. Brief of Appellant, at 19-20. For each of the issues,
Carey’s supplemental written statements substantially complied
with Section 1-04.5 of the Contract. CP 630-31. Carey did so by
describing the date and nature of the protested order, discussing
the circumstances that caused the protest, and providing an
estimated dollar amount of the protest. CP 663-64.

With respect to an “analysis of the progress schedule,” the
nearly constant major design changes and the way the City
amalgamated Carey’s COPs into final change orders made it
impossible for Carey to perform a schedule analysis within

14 days of the initial notice of protest. CP 1762-65. Carey’s
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third-party scheduling consultant testified as much in their
declaration. CP 1764.

Accordingly, Carey’s protests contained statements such
as: “C.A. Carey is currently analyzing the schedule impacts from
this change and all previous changes but due to the massive
number of changes and their ongoing nature, cannot provide
specific schedule impacts at this point.” See, e.g., CP 663, 758,
765. Carey also referred to its previous schedule submittals,
which were already in the City’s possession, and advised the City
with statements such as:

C.A. Carey has been and continues to analyze the
schedule impacts from this change and all previous
changes but due to the massive amount of change
and its ongoing nature, cannot provide final
schedule impacts at this point. However, C.A.
Carey’s most recently uploaded schedules (May
19th and July 9th) show the impact that the work
contained in C.O. #8 has had on the project schedule
while the detailed notes included with the May
upload provide an analysis of the impacts caused by
the work contained in Change Order #8 and its
effect on the project schedule. For your ease of use,
I am attaching a copy of the uploaded analysis.

See CP 695-702, 780, 810, 820, 850, 858, 874, 899, 991.
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In the end, Carey submitted 19 separate protests for these
change order disputes and other contract administration issues.
Each of the 19 complied with the Contract’s notice, protest, and
claims requirements. The City denied all of Carey’s protests and
claims. The City’s refusal to grant Carey the full amount of its
change orders requests was likely prompted, at least in part, by
the City’s substantial budgetary shortfalls. Indeed, as of
January 30, 2014, less than four weeks before the City advertised
the Project for bids, the City forecasted a budget shortfall for the
Project of more than $1.3 million. And as of March 27, 2014,
upon receipt of Carey’s bid (which was the lowest responsive
and responsible bid the City received), the City internally
acknowledged it had “blown” its budget for the Project. CP 1194.

The City’s refusal to acknowledge it was responsible for
any of the Project’s design deficiencies or delays is, frankly,
bizarre and refuted by the Project records. It is undisputed that

the City issued hundreds of thousands of dollars in change orders
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to Carey throughout the course of the Project as partial
compensation to correct the City’s knowingly flawed design.
CP 1536. The City’s change orders, drafted by (or on behalf of)
the City and which the City signed, confirm these issues were not
Carey’s fault.

For purposes of further illustration as to the substantial
redesign efforts the City expended during the course of
construction to correct its defective design, the City exceeded its
budget for on-call design services during construction by at least
42 percent, and it exceeded its budget for construction
engineering and administration services performed during
construction by approximately $560,000 (more than doubling the
original budgeted amount for these services). Tellingly, the City
granted more money in change orders to its design, engineering,
and construction administration consultants to correct its
defective design throughout the course of construction than it did
to Carey, the contractor whose actual construction costs,

schedule, and ability to perform its work in a remotely efficient
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manner were most affected by these issues. CP 1537. Moreover,
by virtue of the City’s privilege designations for documents it has
withheld from discovery in this dispute to date, the City
apparently foresaw this project would end up in litigation before
the Contract was even awarded to Carey. CRP 1536
Nonetheless, the City now refuses to acknowledge any
deficiencies in its design and disingenuously alleges each and
every issue Carey sought compensation for was solely and

exclusively caused by Carey.
B. Procedural Background.

After unsuccessfully attempting to administratively
resolve its disputes with the City through the Contract’s protest
and claim process, on May 12, 2017, Carey filed a complaint
against the City, asserting claims for breach of contract, breach
of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and breach

of the implied warranty of design. Carey’s claims included the

3 The City withheld a significant amount of discovery under the
guise of the attorney-client privilege, which was going to be the
“subject of a separate, forthcoming motion.” CP 1538-39.
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19 separate sub-issues it protested throughout the Project. In its
breach of contract claim, Carey alleged that the City failed to
acknowledge known defects in the project design, failed to pay
for the increased costs of construction, and failed to award the
additional contract time Carey said became necessary due to
numerous design changes. CP 1-6. The complaint also includes
allegations regarding the impossibility of the Project. For
example, the complaint alleges that

“7. At the time it advertised the RFP, [the
Department of Public Works (“SPW”)] knew it
would be impossible for the winning bidder to
construct the Project as designed. SPW knew that
existing underground utilities located throughout
the majority of the Project area would conflict with
the proposed utility installations requiring extensive

redesign and additional work beyond the scope of
the RFP.”

“36. SPW’s plans and specifications were
effectively unconstructible, substantially defective
and insufficient to construct the Project as originally
depicted.”

The complaint also challenges the formation of the

Contract by alleging that “[d]uring the Project, C.A. Carey
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encountered materially changed conditions from those
reasonably expected and different than those represented in the
Contract.” CP 2 (emphasis added).

On June 26, 2017, the City filed its answer to the
complaint and a counterclaim, asserting that Carey “fail[ed] to
timely and/or properly perform its work.” CP 18-26.

On September 27, 2019, before any depositions were
taken, the City moved for summary judgment. CP 40. In
response, Carey also moved for summary judgment. A hearing
on the motions took place on October 25, and the trial court heard
argument from the parties’ counsel. On November 4, even
though no depositions have been taken, the judge entered a
written order, granting the City’s motion for summary judgment
in its entirety and dismissing each of Carey’s claims. The trial
court concluded that Carey had waived the right to pursue its
claims because it failed to strictly comply with the Standard
Specifications, specifically, the notice, protest, and claim

provisions in sections 1-04.5 and 1-09.11 of the Standard
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Specifications. Because the requirements of those provisions are
“conditions precedent to litigation,” the trial court concluded that
dismissal of Carey’s complaint was required.

On November 13, Carey moved for reconsideration in
accordance with CR 59(7) and (9) and requested that the trial
court vacate its summary judgment order. The following day,
Carey submitted an amended motion for reconsideration. In
support of its motion, Carey included additional evidence in the
form of exhibits attached to a supporting declaration. On
December 3, the judge denied reconsideration. In the written
order, the trial court explained that it did not consider the
supplemental exhibits submitted with the motion because Carey
offered “no grounds to support consideration of additional
evidence” as required by CR 59(a)(4).

Carey timely appealed from the court’s ruling. The Court
of Appeals affirmed, holding that “[b]ecause Carey does not
demonstrate any genuine issue of material fact as to whether it

complied with the mandatory procedures in order to preserve its
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claims under the contract, the trial court did not err in granting
summary judgment in favor of the City.” C.4. Carey Corp., 2024
WL 692488, at *10. The Court of Appeals explained that under
Mike M. Johnson, 150 Wn.2d at 386-87, and its progeny,
“contractors must follow the specific requirements of the notice,
protest, and claim provisions in order to preserve their
contractual claims for litigation. Thus, unless Carey complied
with those procedural requirements as provided in the 2012
standard specifications, its claims arising under this contract are
waived as a matter of law.” C.4. Carey Corp., 2024 WL 692488,
at *4.

/17

/17

117
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VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE
GRANTED®

A.  The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with this
Court’s Summary Judgment Precedent. RAP
13.4(b)(1).

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