FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/20/2024 3:02 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 1028890

C.A. CAREY CORPORATION,

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF SNOQUALMIE,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT CITY OF SNOQUALMIE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Athan E. Tramountanas, WSBA #29248 Cynthia S. Park, WSBA #58012 Attorneys for Respondent City of Snoqualmie OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE PLLC 701 5th Avenue, Suite 5600 Seattle, WA 98104

Tel: (206) 447-7000 Fax: (206) 447-0215

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

3. <u>Dispute and Claims Procedures</u>

To pursue a claim after an Engineer's adverse determination on a protest, the contractor must comply with Standard Specifications Section 1-09.11. First, the contractor is to provide the Project Engineer with "written notification that the Contractor will continue to pursue the dispute in accordance with the provisions of Section 1-09.11." CP 108. It must provide that written notification "within 7 calendar days after receipt of the Engineer's written determination that the Contractor's protest is invalid pursuant to Section 1-04.5." *Id.*

After providing the 7-day notice, the contractor is then required to submit its claim under Section 1-09.11(2). The claim "shall be in writing and in sufficient detail to enable the Engineer to ascertain the basis and amount of the claim." CP 111. Though the Standard Specifications do not provide a number of days within which the Contractor must submit information required for a claim, Section 1-09.11(2) contains an outside time limit: the contractor must submit the claim and its required information with the Final Contract Voucher Certification or the contractor waives its claim:

Failure to submit with the Final Contract Voucher Certification such information and details as described in this Section for any claim shall operate as a waiver of the claims by the Contractor as provided in Section 1-09.9.

CP 112.

4. Final Contract Voucher Certification

The Final Contract Voucher Certification is the mechanism by which an owner accepts a project under the Standard Specifications. Once all project work is completed,

the Engineer calculates the final amounts owing to the contractor and presents it to the contractor on a "Final Contract Voucher Certification" for the contractor's signature. CP 106-107.

For Carey to pursue a claim under the Standard

Specifications after final acceptance, it was required to have
already filed the claim with Snoqualmie and to have expressly
excluded the claim from the Final Contract Voucher

Certification:

Such voucher shall be deemed a release of all claims of the Contractor unless a claim is filed in accordance with the requirements of Section 1-09.11 and is expressly excepted from the Contractor's certification on the Final Contract Voucher Certification.

Id. The contractor must provide the Engineer with the Final Contract Voucher Certification as a precondition to achieving completion of the project. CP 633.

5. <u>Unilateral Acceptance of a Project</u>

A contractor cannot prevent an owner from accepting a project as complete by refusing to sign the Final Contract

Voucher Certification. The Standard Specifications Section 1-09.9 provides a mechanism for an owner to unilaterally issue the Final Contract Voucher Certification and establish a "Completion Date" if the contractor "fails, refuses, or is unable to sign and return the Final Contract Voucher Certification or any other documentation required for completion and final acceptance of the Contract." CP 107.

B. Change Orders

Snoqualmie issued a total of 15 change orders to Carey on the Project. CP 46-47. In total, these Change Orders increased the contract amount from \$4,282,653.42 to \$4,702,656.86, and the allowed contract duration from 180 days to 242.5 days. *Id*.

C. <u>Carey Signed Change Orders Under Protest</u>

Carey notified Snoqualmie of its "intent" to protest Change

Orders 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15, by indicating that it
signed them "under protest." CP 74-75, 118-253. Most of these
"protest" signatures were accompanied with a "written

supplement" in the form of a one-paragraph statement from Carey that advised, generally, that Carey "reserves all of its rights" to protest for additional costs, and that Carey would supplement its "protest" within 14 Calendar Days per Section 1-04.5. *See e.g.*, CP 178, 199, 212, 234, 245, 253.

Carey then submitted letters that it contended constituted a "supplement" to its protest. CP 75, 255-286. These letters, however, failed to address the substantive requirements for such supplements. For example, Section 1-04.5(2)(d) requires "an analysis of the progress schedule showing any claimed schedule change or disruption," but Carey's "supplement" letters actually admitted Carey's failure to comply: "C.A. Carey is currently analyzing the schedule impacts from this change... and cannot provide specific schedule impacts at this point." CP 75, 255, 257, 270, 272 (emphasis added).

In the limited instances where Carey did supply additional information, it was insufficient. As an example, for additional compensation, Carey merely stated its disagreements

with the Engineer's pricing of the Change Order, and/or provided estimated amount subtotals (*e.g.*, home and field office overhead, traffic control) without any breakdown showing how it determined those amounts. And where Carey did try to address schedule impacts, instead of providing an analysis of impacts to the critical path schedule (as required by Section 1-08.8), Carey improperly tried to shift this obligation to Snoqualmie: "If the Agency would review the schedule that was submitted" on some previous date, "it would show that the above changes affected the critical path by the days requested." CP 75, 273-274, 283-286.

In light of these deficiencies, Snoqualmie denied each of Carey's "protests" and "supplements." CP 75, 288-317.

Snoqualmie's responses highlighted that Carey had failed to comply with Section 1-04.5's requirements for protesting a change order, and that as a result, Carey had completely waived its claims for the protested work. *Id*.

In response to Snoqualmie's denial of Carey's protests, Carey filed "notices of intent" to file a claim for each of the protested Change Orders under Section 1-09.11. CP 75, 319-327. The next step under the Standard Specifications (had Carey met all prior requirements, which it did not) would have been for Carey to file a formal Section 1-09.11(2) claim, as Carey's "notices of intent" stated it would. Despite Carey's stated intent, however, Carey did not actually file any of these claims, except for the lone instance of Change Order 5 ("CO 5"). Snoqualmie denied Carey's claim for CO 5 largely due to its failure to document or support its claim for additional working days or compensation. For example, Carey failed to provide required evidence (receipts, payroll records) of actual time spent and costs incurred for the change order–rather than "estimates." CP 76, 359-365.

D. <u>Snoqualmie's Unilateral Acceptance of the Project</u>

When Carey finally completed Project work, Snoqualmie prepared to administratively close out the Contract. CP 76.

Over the course of nearly six months, Snoqualmie indicated to Carey repeatedly, and in writing, of its intention to issue a Final Contract Voucher Certification and close the job. CP 76-77. Carey repeatedly refused to sign it. *Id.* Ultimately, Snoqualmie issued the Final Pay Estimate (No. 25) on October 14, 2016. CP 387-396. On November 14, 2016—98 days after Snoqualmie first notified Carey that it would unilaterally close out the Contract—the City Council adopted a resolution accepting the Project as complete and authorizing issuance of the Final Contract Voucher Certification. CP 77-78, 408-409. Snoqualmie executed the Final Contract Voucher Certification that same day and sent a copy to Carey on November 16, 2016. CP 77-78, 397-399.

E. <u>Carey's Omnibus Claim</u>

Six months later—and despite the Standard

Specifications' requirements for prompt presentation of a

formal "claim" prior to the Final Contract Voucher

Certification—Carey filed a 26-page, omnibus "claim." CP

411-438. Carey served Snoqualmie with its complaint in this litigation on the same day. CP 78. Snoqualmie rejected Carey's claim. CP 440-461.

F. Procedural History

Both parties cross-moved for summary judgment on September 27, 2019. CP 40-66, 1189-1217. The Honorable Avril Rothrock granted summary judgment for Snoqualmie (and denied summary judgment for Carey) by issuing a comprehensive written decision on November 4, 2019. CP 1662-1672. Judge Rothrock concluded, *inter alia*, that Carey did not timely provide notice of its intent to file a claim as required by Standard Specifications Section 1-09.11 for two elements of its claim, and for those elements that Carey did timely provide notice, Carey failed to file the claim no later than the Final Contract Voucher Certification. Because timely filing of a claim is a condition precedent to judicial relief, Judge Rothrock concluded that Carey waived its claims. CP 1665-1666.

Carey moved for reconsideration pursuant to CR 59(7) and (9). CP 1742-1756, 1792-1808. Judge Rothrock denied the motion, issuing another written decision and holding *inter alia*, that Carey waived claims by not advancing them with the Final Contract Voucher Certification:

As a matter of law, Carey's failure to submit with the Final Contract Voucher Certification information and details constituting a formal claim was noncompliant with Section 1-09.11(2) and insufficient to permit pursuit of the claims in this litigation.

CP 1828.

G. Response to Carey's "Facts"

In its "Factual Background" section, Carey tells a fictional story about Snoqualmie bidding the Project while knowing of design problems. While this story is irrelevant to whether this Court should grant review, Snoqualmie provides a brief response.

Carey's fiction is belied by the record Carey relies upon.

Carey relies almost exclusively on a January 9, 2014, email sent from Olivia Buban of KPG, an independent designer (*i.e.*, not a

Snoqualmie employee), informing Kathy Johnson of "potential gas conflicts," and attaching drawings. CP 470-478. Instead of ignoring these conflicts, Ms. Buban instructs Ms. Johnson to "verify clearances" as shown on the attached drawings. *Id.* It is not apparent from the record where Ms. Johnson works.

Then, Carey relies on a July 2, 2014, internal Snoqualmie email from the City's engineer Kamal Mahmoud. CP 480. Mr. Mahmoud writes about a utility conflict and, instead of Mr. Mahmoud indicating the City knew this conflict would be a problem, he states that KPG was supposed to address it with PSE during design: "KPG sent the conflic [sic] info to PSE back in January 2014. For some reason PSE thought KPG was going to redesign the storm [sewer] to avoid the conflict. That did not happen." *Id*. The conflict was a mistake by the designer or PSE and was supposed to be addressed, not ignored. Instead of trying to make Carey pay for that mistake, Mr. Mahmoud acknowledged Snoqualmie would need to pay Carey additional money through a change order, and that it should be

PSE's responsibility to pay for that change order: "Relocating the storm [sewer] will cause a change order. We are asking PSE to also cover the cost of that change order." *Id*.

Carey's narrative relies on only two emails, neither of which support the story it tells. It is also belied by the number of change orders Snoqualmie issued to Carey, substantially increasing the contract amount. CP 47. Ultimately, none of this matters because of Carey's failure to follow the contract's mandatory claims procedures, and the Court should disregard Carey's irrelevant narrative.¹

VI. ARGUMENT: REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED²

Division I properly construed applicable law in affirming the Trial Court. First, it held that compliance with the protest

¹ Carey asks the Court to take judicial notice of a story posted to a website. Snoqualmie objects to this attempt to supplement the record, as Carey did not comply with RAP 9.11 or 9.12, and this Court may not consider evidence that was not before the Trial Court.

² In its Footnote 4, Carey attempts to incorporate its arguments to the Court of Appeals into its Petition for Review. To the extent that incorporation is effective, Snoqualmie incorporates its responses to those arguments.

and claims provisions of the Standard Specifications is mandatory. In doing so, it rejected Carey's arguments related to substantial completion and held that the standard under *Mike* M. Johnson, American Safety Cas. Inc. Co. v. City of Olympia, 162 Wn.2d 762, 174 P.3d 54 (2007), and *Nova Contracting*, Inc. v. City of Olympia, 191 Wn.2d 854, 426 P.3d 685 (2018), is strict compliance. Opinion at 5-9. Second, Division I held that Carey did not follow the protest provisions of the Standard Specifications and did not timely file its claim before the Final Contract Voucher Certification. Opinion at 12, 19-20. Thus, Division I affirmed the Trial Court, as Carey failed to demonstrate any genuine issue of material issue of fact as to whether it complied with the mandatory procedures to preserve its claims under the Contract. Opinion at 24.

A. The Opinion is Consistent with this Court's Precedent on the Summary Judgment Standard.

Carey first seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), arguing the Opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent on summary

judgment. Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), this Court will accept review if "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1). Carey does not identify any Supreme Court decision on summary judgment that conflicts with the Opinion, and instead generally states the standard of review for summary judgment by citing Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000) and Weverhaeuser Co. v. Aetna Cas. Sur. Co., 123 Wn.2d 891, 874 P.2d (1994). Division I cites to these same cases when correctly identifying the summary judgment standard of review (de novo) and stating how a court of appeals is to consider the evidence presented to the Trial Court (in the light most favorable to the non-moving party). Opinion at 4.

So Carey is seeking review not because Division I misstated the summary judgment standard of review, but because Carey disagrees with Division I's application of the correct standard. That is not a proper basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), because "[a]s the highest court in the state, the

Supreme Court is a court of law, 'not a court of error correction.'" Wash. State Bar Ass'n, Washington Appellate Practice Deskbook §18.2(5), at 18-7 (4th ed. 2016), quoting Justice Stephen Breyer, *Reflections on the Role of Appellate Courts: a View from the Supreme Court*, 8 J. App. Prac. & Process 91, 92 (Spring 2006). While review should be denied on this basis alone, Snoqualmie further responds to the additional issues raised by Carey.

First, Carey suggests that granting summary judgment is improper when the parties have yet to take any depositions. A lack of depositions is not something that would justify Supreme Court review. Moreover, this is the first time Carey has raised this issue. Carey did not even seek a continuance for further discovery under CR 56(f) when responding to Snoqualmie's motion for summary judgment. A denial of a CR 56(f) request for continuance is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and there is no abuse of discretion when the party opposing a motion for summary judgment has not requested a continuance. *See MRC*

Receivables Corp. v. Zion, 152 Wn. App. 625, 629, 218 P.3d 621 (2009). Moreover, Carey independently moved for summary judgment at the same time as Snoqualmie. CP 1189. Thus, even if there was a rule against summary judgment before depositions, Carey's attempt at summary judgment waived its right to raise it as an issue.

Second, Carey seeks the opportunity to plead additional facts and raise additional claims and defenses. Again, this is not a proper basis for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b). This is especially the case where Carey made no motion to amend its pleadings prior to the Trial Court dismissing its claims. Carey now asks this Court for the chance to amend its complaint. Even if that was proper on a petition for review, the Civil Rules require that summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith" if the pleadings show no genuine issue of material fact. CR 56(c). Because Carey failed to provide sufficient facts to defeat summary judgment, a court is to dismiss its claims, not give it the opportunity to revise its

pleadings. *See Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc.*, 123 Wn.2d 649, 654, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994) (stating plaintiff bears the burden of showing the existence of a genuine issue of material fact to defeat summary judgment). Under no standard of law should a court—whether a trial court or appellate court—deny summary judgment to allow a plaintiff to plead additional facts and claims. The Opinion does not conflict with Supreme Court authority, and the Court should deny Carey's petition.

B. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with *Mike M. Johnson* or *Nova*.

Carey next argues under RAP 13.4(b)(1) that, by requiring contractors to strictly comply with notice of claims procedures, the Opinion conflicts with the *Mike M. Johnson* and *Nova* decisions. Not only is this wrong, Carey acknowledges it is wrong by recognizing the rule from the *Mike M. Johnson* case has come to be known as the "strict compliance rule." Both cases involved the Standard Specifications' notice provisions. In *Mike M. Johnson*, this Court held that actual

notice does not waive strict compliance with contractual notice provisions:

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